THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Administrative Law Court
Honorable HW Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001291

RECEIVED
NOV 25 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Terry Smith 160785Appellant

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections.....Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Terry Smith 160785 F4B
Lee Correctional Institution
990 Wisacky Highway
Bishopville SC 29010
Pro Se Appellant

Statement of the Issues on Appeal

- I. Did the ALC improperly determine that the Appellant was not entitled to credit for the time spent in custody between his actual arrest in 2002 and his formal arrest in 2004?
- II. Did the ALC improperly fail to apply moot analysis to the Appellant's grievance?
- III. Is SCDC entitled to hold Appellant in custody by calculating his sentence start date pursuant to SC Code Ann Section 24-13-40 when the usage of the statutory provision directly provokes violations of the Appellant's 6th, 8th, and 14th Amendment rights under the Constitution of the United States, because the beginning of the Appellant's sentence should be constructed from the transmission of the warrant and the date of his actual arrest?

Statement of the Case

This matter is before the South Carolina Court of Appeals pursuant to the Notice of Appeal filed on July 26, 2019, by Terry Smith ("Appellant"), an inmate incarcerated in the South Carolina Department of Corrections ("Respondent" or "SCDC" or "government"). Appellant appeals the Final Order of the Honorable HW Funderburk, Jr., dated July 22, 2019 from the South Carolina Administrative Law Court ("ALC"), that issued from Appellant's first grievance of May 26, 2017, and second grievance of September 5, 2018, appealing SCDC's miscalculation of his sentence. The grievance proceeds from Respondent's miscalculation of Appellant's prior sentence that began in 1994, which Departmental miscalculation created a judicial miscalculation of the start of Appellant's current sentences.

In its Order, the ALC found that substantial evidence supported the Department's calculation of Appellant's sentences and concluded that they resulted from a proper application of law, *but in support of this conclusion* decided that the end-date of Appellant's 1994 sentences had no bearing on the start-date of Appellant's 2006 sentences, and further that any determination of the proper calculation of the 1994 sentences was moot—since the time had already been served out.

Both these preparatory conclusions, and consequently the final conclusion, are flawed.

Arguments

- I. DID THE ALC IMPROPERLY DETERMINE THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO CREDIT FOR THE TIME SPENT IN CUSTODY BETWEEN HIS ACTUAL ARREST IN 2002 AND HIS FORMAL ARREST IN 2004?

The State delayed prosecution until 2006 despite having the Appellant in custody continuously beginning in July 2002, and relied on SC Code Ann § 24-13-40 to apply a sentence start-date beginning in 2006 (relying, plainly, on the Department-calculated end-date of Appellant's 1994 sentences.) Consequently, the supposed end-date of Appellant's prior sentences had direct consequence on the start-date of his current sentences. The ALC's determination that these were unconnected is plainly erroneous.

The Appellant was sentenced to concurrent service on his 2006 sentences at his sentencing in 2006, and this would include concurrent with whatever other sentences he was serving *at the time that the sentence should have legally begun*. The Department's miscalculation of 1994 sentence parole credits would mean that the Appellant's sentences would overlap, not abut, if properly calculated and sentenced. Time spent on parole must be calculated as time served, see *Sanders v MacDougall*, 135 SE 2d 836 (1964); and all time spent confined must be counted as time served based upon *Robinson v State*, 495 SE 2d 433 (1998): "[while] a convict is subject to a South Carolina detainer, he is constructively in South Carolina custody. As a result, a convict will receive credit for time spent in another jurisdiction while subject to a South Carolina detainer."

The Department outlines the sequence of events as follows: On August 2, 2000, Smith was released on parole. On May 2, 2002, Smith absconded from parole and a warrant was issued for his arrest. On January 17, 2004, Smith was arrested. On March 1, 2004, Smith's parole was officially revoked. But in fact, Smith was arrested on July 13, 2002, and Spartanburg law enforcement was duly

notified and transmitted a hold on the robbery warrants that were belatedly tried in 2006. [See Fax Sheet, NRPS; Fingerprint Identification, NRPS; and NRPS Vehicle Report.] The ALC's order in this matter clearly depends upon this not-so-subtle misstatement of material fact.

Since the Appellant was in fact entitled, in one form or another, to the time confined between 2002 and 2004, this time cannot be discounted in the sentence calculation of the 1994 sentences, and consequently will determine the proper sentence start-date for the 2006 sentences. The ALC's conclusion in this matter was erroneous.

II. DID THE ALC IMPROPERLY FAIL TO APPLY MOOT ANALYSIS TO THE APPELLANT'S GRIEVANCE?

Moot analysis is proper in any situation where a misapplication of law is capable of repetition but simply evades review. See *Curtis v State*, 345 SC 557, 549 SE 2d 591 (2001). In this case, the Department miscalculated Appellant's sentence credits on his 1994 sentences, but the ALC did not call proper attention to that matter, instead holding that the matter was irrelevant in the Appellant's case since the time had already been served.

But the full and proper duty of the ALC in such a matter is to provide clear guideline for the Department in the event of a future occurrence; and, the instant Appellant, while he might have been improperly deprived of liberty on the 1994 sentences, still has the potential for redress of that lost liberty in the current, 2006, sentences. Such a liberty interest is vital to the citizen concerned, while the State suffers no actual deprivation if the liberty from the 1994 sentences is restored from the 2006 sentences.

Consequently, the matter is not fully moot, because restorable liberty remains in the offing.

III. IS SCDC ENTITLED TO HOLD APPELLANT IN CUSTODY BY CALCULATING HIS SENTENCE START DATE PURSUANT TO SC CODE ANN SECTION 24-13-40 WHEN THE USAGE OF THE STATUTORY PROVISION DIRECTLY PROVOKES VIOLATIONS OF THE APPELLANT'S 6TH, 8TH, AND 14TH AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, BECAUSE THE BEGINNING OF THE APPELLANT'S SENTENCE SHOULD BE CONSTRUCTED FROM THE TRANSMISSION OF THE WARRANT AND THE DATE OF HIS ACTUAL ARREST?

Additionally, the Appellant was arrested in July 2002 in consequence of the warrants issued for his parole revocation and crimes alleged in 2002, and so any calculation of his time served must spring from the transmission of the warrant to the Canadian authorities—not the formal service of warrant and arrest that was delayed until the Appellant returned to South Carolina in 2004. See *Blakeney v State*, 339 SC 86, 529 SE 2d 9.

Spartanburg authorities notified Canadian authorities of the South Carolina warrants in July 2002, see above, and so the formal arrest in 2004 was of no consequence to the determination of the beginning of confinement. *Blakeney* is firmly established South Carolina precedent that the government here seeks to upend by an unconstitutional usage supposedly allowed by §24-13-40—a peculiar treatment reserved only for prisoners, which would be a violation of the Equal Protection Clause in any event.

The Appellant's 2006 sentences should have a start-date beginning in July 2002, and this proper application of law would render the rest of the matter irrelevant, as it would consume the sentence calculation within its outcome.

Conclusion

WHEREFORE, the Appellant is entitled to full redress from a gross miscarriage of justice that springs from the government's deliberate misconduct. "Prisoners remain citizens, and live also under the protection of the Constitution and the laws." See *Wolff v McDonnell*, 418 US 539 (1974) at III. The Appellant respectfully requests that the Court grant the following relief:

1. Order costs plus one dollar compensatory damages for the Appellant.
2. A Declaratory Order to force the Respondent to cease calculating sentences from the


sentencing-date of a latterly-imposed sentence, in violation of the constitutional rights of the citizens.

3. Order the Respondent to compute the sentence start-date for Appellant's 2002 warrants to begin at his 2002 arrest, despite that the government failed, in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments, to prosecute those charges until 2006.

4. Provide such other and further relief that this Court may deem just and proper.