THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

H.W. Funderburk, Jr., *Administrative Law Judge*

ALC Case No. 18-ALJ-04-0438-AP
Appellate Case No. 2019-001291

Terry Bo Smith, #160785.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections.....Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT
OF CORRECTIONS**

Annie Laurie Rumler
South Carolina Bar # 101851
Deputy General Counsel
Office of General Counsel
S.C. Dept. of Corrections
P.O. Box 21787
Columbia, SC 29221-1787
(803) 896-1355

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE DECISION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS WHERE APPELLANT FAILED TO SHOW THE DEPARTMENT'S CALCULATION OF HIS SENTENCE WAS INCORRECT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court pursuant to the appeal of Terry Bo Smith (“Appellant”), an inmate in the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections (“SCDC” or “Respondent”). On May 26, 2017, Appellant submitted a Step One Grievance challenging the Department’s calculation of his sentence. R. 8. The Warden responded on August 17, 2017. R. 9. Thereafter on October 17, 2017, Appellant filed a Step Two Grievance in which he again challenged the Department’s calculation of his sentence. R. 6. On January 20, 2018 Appellant’s Step Two Grievance was denied. R. 6-7. Appellant subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal to the Administrative Law Court. After considering initial briefs and reply filings from both parties, the Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr. entered an order affirming SCDC’s final agency decision on July 22, 2019. R. 1-4. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) provides the applicable standard of review:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

In an appeal of a final decision of an administrative agency, the standard of appellate review is whether the ALC's findings are supported by substantial evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). "Substantial evidence" is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow a reasonable mind to reach the same conclusion that administrative agency reached. Hendley v. S.C. State Budget & Control Bd., 325 S.C. 413, 481 S.E.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1996). A reviewing court shall not substitute its own judgment for that of the ALC as to findings of fact, but it may reverse or modify decisions that are controlled by errors of law or that are clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. Id.

ARGUMENT

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE DECISION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS WHERE APPELLANT FAILED TO SHOW THE DEPARTMENT'S CALCULATION OF HIS SENTENCE WAS INCORRECT.

The jurisdiction of the Administrative Law Court ("ALC") to hear this matter is derived entirely from the decision of the South Carolina Supreme Court in Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (2000). When reviewing SCDC's decisions in inmate grievance matters, the ALC sits in an appellate capacity. Id. at 377, 527 S.E.2d at 754. Subsequently, the Supreme Court clarified the ALC's appellate jurisdiction over inmate appeals in Sullivan v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 355 S.C. 437, 586 S.E.2d 124 (2003). In affirming, as modified, the ALC's *en banc* decision of McNeil v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 02-ALJ-04-00336-AP (September 5, 2001), the Supreme Court held the ALC's jurisdiction was limited to (1) cases in which an inmate contends prison officials have erroneously calculated his sentence, sentence-related credits, or custody status; (2) cases in which SCDC has taken an inmate's state-created liberty interest in major disciplinary hearings; and (3) cases in which an inmate's confinement implicates a state-created liberty interest. See Sullivan, 355 S.C. at 443, 586 S.E.2d at 127 (emphasis added).

In this case, the Administrative Law Court properly affirmed the decision of the Department of Corrections and Appellant has failed to show that the Department of Corrections committed any error with respect to calculation of his sentence. On April 27, 1994, Appellant received a ten-year sentence for Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature (ABHAN). R. 87. Then on August 9, 1994 he received a ten-year sentence for Crack Distribution which was to run consecutively to his ABHAN sentence.

R. 88. Appellant was entitled to 103 days of jail time credit on his sentence for Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature. SCDC gave Appellant that credit by backdating his sentence start date to January 14, 1994 which is 103 days prior to his April 27, 1994 sentencing. R. 125. Appellant completed that sentence on August 14, 1999 and then began his Crack Distribution sentence. R. 125.

Appellant had served just under a year of his Crack Distribution sentence when, on August 2, 2000, Appellant was released on parole. R. 131. On May 2, 2002, Appellant absconded from parole supervision and a warrant was issued for his arrest. R. 130 & 135. Appellant was arrested January 17, 2004. Supp. R. 1. Appellant's parole was officially revoked on March 1, 2004. R. 137.

On March 3, 2004, he returned to SCDC custody to complete the remaining portion of his 1994 sentence for Crack Distribution. R. 130 & Supp. R. 1. Appellant was on parole in South Carolina from August 2, 2000 until May 1, 2002, a total of 638 days. Appellant was given day for day credit on for this time pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-670. R. 105. From May 2, 2002 until his arrest on January 17, 2004, Appellant was not abiding by the terms of his parole. Thus S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-670 does not entitle him to credit for this time period. In fact, South Carolina law prohibits Appellant from receiving credit for this period of time. See State v. Hackett, 363 S.C. 177, 182, 609 S.E.2d 553, 555–56 (Ct. App. 2005) (Hackett was not entitled to credit for “time between the issuance of the probation arrest warrant . . . and the time Hackett actually appeared before the court” because to do otherwise would “lead to an absurd result.”); State v. Miller, 404 S.C. 29, 37, 744 S.E.2d 532, 537 (2013) (“the tolling of probation must be premised on a violation

of a condition of probation or a statutory directive.”).

Appellant spent some time incarcerated in New York between May 2, 2002, when his parole violation warrant was issued, and his January 17, 2004 arrest. R. 130. Appellant argues he should get jail time credit on his Crack Distribution sentence for this time. R. 12. However, as discussed above, Appellant cannot get credit for time when he was ordered to be on parole but had absconded from supervision. Hackett at 182, 609 S.E.2d at 555–56 (Ct. App. 2005).

Appellant completed his Crack Distribution sentence and was released from SCDC custody on June 1, 2006.¹ R. 128. Appellant ultimately served just over 10 years and four months of the possible 20 years imposed by his 1994 consecutive sentences. This includes the time he was incarcerated prior to parole, May 5, 1994 to August 2, 2000, the time he was on parole prior to his violating the terms, August 3, 2000 to May 2, 2002, and the time he was incarcerated after his parole was revoked, January 17, 2004 to June 1, 2006.

On October 16, 2006, Appellant was sentenced to 15 years for Common Law Robbery, 10 years for Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature, 23 years for Armed Robbery, 23 years for Kidnapping, and 20 years for Carjacking with Bodily Injury. R. 89-93. On these sentences, Appellant is entitled to 189 days of jail time credit: 46 days from January 17, 2004 to March 3, 2004 and 143 days from May 25, 2006 to October 16, 2006. R. 94. SCDC credited Appellant with 189 days of jail time credit on all of his October

¹ Appellant’s Completed SCDC Priors indicates that this sentence, offense S00008, would be completed on June 5, 2006 but Appellant was actually released on June 1, 2006 pursuant to Proviso 37.26 to the 2005-2006 Appropriations Act which states, in relevant part, “The Director of the Department of Corrections . . . shall release such prisoners on the first day of the month in which their sentence expires, and if the first day of the month falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday, such prisoners may be released on the last weekday prior to the first of the month which is not a holiday, Saturday or Sunday.”

16, 2006 sentences by recording his sentence start date as April 10, 2006; which is 189 days prior to his sentencing date of October 16, 2006. R. 127.

As discussed above, Appellant was entitled to jail time credit derived from two separate periods of time. SCDC applied these jail time credits to his sentence by utilizing an administrative “fiction” or management tool and entering his sentence start date as April 10, 2006. Because Appellant’s sentence start date was recorded as April 10, 2006, it may at first glance appear that Appellant’s current sentences were imposed before he completed his 1994 sentences on June 1, 2006. In fact, Appellant argues that this is the case stating that SCDC calculated the start date of his current sentences based on the calculation of his 1994 sentences. R. 11. However, this is not the case. As discussed previously, Appellant completed his 1994 sentences on June 1, 2006 and his current sentences were not imposed until a month and a half later on October 16, 2006. As such, the end date of Appellant's 1994 sentences has no bearing on the calculation of the sentences he is currently serving.

Appellant’s sentences for Common Law Robbery and Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature were both completed prior to his initiating this appeals process; on March 10, 2014 and August 5, 2011, respectively. R. 127. Appellant is currently serving his sentences for Armed Robbery, Kidnapping, and Carjacking with Bodily Injury. R. 127. His current projected completion date for the Carjacking with Bodily Injury sentence is April 6, 2023. R. 127. His current projected completion date for both his Armed Robbery and Kidnapping sentences is October 22, 2025. R. 127.

Both Armed Robbery and Kidnapping are no parole offenses. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-100 defines a no parole offenses as, in relevant part, “an offense exempt from

classification as enumerated in Section 16-1-10(d).” Both Armed Robbery and Kidnapping are included in the list of offenses in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-10(d). Because these sentences are for no parole offenses, they are subject to the mandatory service requirement imposed by S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-150(A). This statute states, in relevant part,

an inmate convicted of a no parole offense . . . is not eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision . . . until the inmate has served at least eighty-five percent of the actual term of imprisonment imposed . . . calculated without the application of earned work credits, education credits, or good conduct credits[.]

Appellant received 23-year sentences for both of these offenses so Appellant has a mandatory service requirement of 19 years, six months, and 18 days on both sentences. Appellant’s projected max out date on these sentences, October 22, 2025, is approximately 19 years, six months, and 18 days from April 10, 2006, his sentence start date. Thus, Appellant’s current projected max out date is the earliest possible max out date available to him under South Carolina law.

Because Appellant has not carried his burden to demonstrate SCDC is incorrectly calculating his sentence, Judge Funderburk was correct to affirm SCDC’s final agency decision. Therefore, Respondent respectfully requests that the order of the Administrative Law Court be upheld.